
AGENDA 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, November 1, 2021 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 1 of 1 
 

 

1. Call to Order   
2. Roll Call  
3. Invocation and Pledge  
4. Announcements  
5. Approval of the Agenda  
6. Public Input  
7. Consent Agenda  

a. Approve Minutes  
• Regular Meeting and Work Session held October 18, 2021 
• Executive Session held October 18, 2021 

b.  Approve Resolution in Support of Amicalola Falls Scenic Byway 
 

BUSINESS 
 

8. Naming Public Road in City Hall Complex 
9. Maple Hill Drive Detention Pond 

10. Budget Amendment – Preparation of Application for American Rescue Plan Grant Funding 
11. 2022 Lease Recommendations 
12. An Ordinance Of The City Of Dawsonville, Georgia, To Provide For Application Of Rates To Customer 

Accounts; To Provide For Discounts In Specifically Approved Circumstances; To Provide For 
Methodology For Determining Approval Of Discount; To Provide For Severability; To Provide For An 
Effective Date; And For Other Purposes. (First Reading: November 1, 2021; Second Reading and 
Consideration to Adopt: November 15, 2021) 

13. An Ordinance To Regulate Post Development Stormwater Management, To Provide For 
Responsibility For Maintenance Of Facilities, To Provide For Penalties, To Provide For An Effective 
Date, And For Other Purposes. (First Reading: November 1, 2021; Second Reading and 
Consideration to Adopt: November 15, 2021) 
 

     EXECUTIVE SESSION, IF NEEDED        

     ADJOURNMENT   
 
 
 

The next scheduled City Council meeting is Monday, November 15, 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Those persons with disabilities who require reasonable accommodations in order to allow them to observe 
and/or participate in this meeting or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting, should 
contact the Clerk at Dawsonville City Hall at 706-265-3256 at least two (2) business days prior to the meeting. 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                    CONSENT AGENDA           

   
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  11/01/2021     
   
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 

 
   CONSIDERATION AND APPROVAL OF ITEMS BELOW; SEE ATTACHED 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS  
 

a. Approve Minutes  
• Regular Meeting and Work Session held October 18, 2021 
• Executive Session held October 18, 2021 

b. Approve Resolution in Support of Amicalola Falls Scenic Byway 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #       7     
 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                       APPROVE MINUTES    

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  11/01/2021     
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #  NA      

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
     TO APPROVE THE MINUTES FROM: 
 

• REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION HELD OCTOBER 18, 2021 
• EXECUTIVE SESSION HELD OCTOBER 18, 2021 

 
 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

 
 
     
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
           
  AMEND OR APPROVE AS PRESENTED 
 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
     REQUESTED BY:  Beverly Banister, City Clerk    

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

 AGENDA ITEM #   7a      
 

 

 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION 

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, October 18, 2021 

5:00 P.M. 
 

Page 1 of 3 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Eason called the meeting to order at 5:00 pm.   

2. ROLL CALL: Present were Councilmember John Walden, Councilmember Mark French, 
Councilmember William Illg, City Attorney Kevin Tallant, City Manager Bob Bolz, City Clerk Beverly 
Banister, Public Works Director Trampas Hansard, Utilities Operation Manager Jacob Barr, Planning 
Director David Picklesimer and Finance Administrator Robin Gazaway. 
 

Councilmember Phillips was not present. 
 

3. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE:  Invocation and Pledge were led by Councilmember Walden. 
 

4. ANNOUNCEMENTS:  The Mayor announced advanced voting is underway for the Municipal Election 
for Councilmember Post #2 and Post #4; election day is November 2, 2021.  He reminded the citizens 
that City Hall will be closed on Friday, October 22, 2021 to accommodate the 54th Annual Mountain 
Moonshine Festival.   
 

5. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA:  Motion to add item #18 Executive Session to the agenda made by 
M. French; second by W. Illg.  Vote carried unanimously in favor. (3-0) 

 

Motion to remove item #13 from the agenda and table it until the December 6, 2021 City Council 
meeting made by J. Walden; second by M. French.  Vote carried unanimously in favor. (3-0) 

 

Motion to approve the agenda as amended made by M. French; second by J. Walden.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor. (3-0) 
 

6. PUBLIC INPUT:  None 
 

7. CONSENT AGENDA:  Motion to approve the consent agenda for the following items (a, b, and c) 
made by J. Walden; second by M. French.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  

a. Approve Minutes  
• Regular Meeting held October 4, 2021 
• Executive Session held October 4, 2021 

b. Approve Organization Chart (Exhibit “A”) 
c. Approve Update to 2022 Meeting Calendar (Exhibit “B”) 

 
8. EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION:  The Mayor and Council recognized Kyle Richardson for one year of 

service, Clay Moss and Jon Davis for three years of service and Donna Blanton for four years of 
service.  Robin Gazaway was presented with the September 2021 Employee of the Month Award and 
the Employee of the Third Quarter Award. 

 

9. FARMERS MARKET REPORT – LOUISE MCPHERSON:  Louise McPherson reported on the events 
and success of the Farmers Market this season and how much she appreciates the City for building 
the facility with SPLOST funding and stressed how appreciative herself and all the vendors are who 
have been able to sell their wares at the market.   

 

The City Council read and presented a proclamation for Volunteer Appreciation Honoring Louise 
McPherson for her hard work and dedication and contribution to the success of the Farmers Market 
season.  (Exhibit “C”) 
 

The Dawson County Chamber of Commerce also presented Louise McPherson with the Small Town 
Superstar Award. She was nominated for her kindness, amplified individuality, and for her sacrifice 
and hard work. 

 

10. DAWSON COUNTY CHAMBER OF COMMERCE PRESENTATION – MANDY POWER:  Mandy 
Power, President and CEO of the Dawson County Chamber of Commerce presented an overview of 
how the Chamber utilizes the funding provided from the City to promote tourism and support the 
businesses and citizens of the City.   

 

11. GEORGIA SCENIC BYWAY DESIGNATION – PRESENTATION BY MANDY POWER:  Mandy 
Power, President and CEO of the Dawson County Chamber of Commerce presented information on 
the development of a Georgia Scenic Byway Designation which will start at the City of Dawsonville 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION 

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, October 18, 2021 

5:00 P.M. 
 

Page 2 of 3 
 

and go through downtown and up to Amicalola Falls.  The Chamber is seeking the support of the City 
for the scenic byway. 

 

Motion to develop a resolution in support of the Georgia Scenic Byway Designation made by M. 
French; second by J. Walden.  Vote carried unanimously in favor. (3-0) 

 

PUBLIC HEARING 
 

12. An Ordinance To Amend The City Of Dawsonville Code Of Ordinances Regarding Animals; Streets 
And Standards; Grading And Drainage; Zoning; Lot And Block Standards; Occupation Taxes And 
Miscellaneous Business Regulations; Buildings And Building Regulations; Stormwater Management; 
Fire Prevention And Protection; To Provide For An Effective Date; And For Other Purposes. (First 
Reading: October 4, 2021; Public Hearing, Second Reading and Consideration to Adopt: October 18, 
2021) 
 

Planning Director Picklesimer read the ordinance amendment. 
 

Motion to open the public hearing made by M. French; second by W. Illg.  Vote carried unanimously 
in favor. (3-0).  Mayor Eason conducted the public hearing.  No one spoke in favor or opposition to 
the ordinance amendment. Motion to close the public hearing made by W. Illg; second by J. Walden.  
Vote carried unanimously in favor. (3-0) 
 

Motion to approve the ordinance amendment as presented made by W. Illg; second by M. French.  
Vote carried unanimously in favor. (3-0) (Exhibit “D”) 
 

BUSINESS 
 

13. ANX C2100043 AND ZA C2100043: Item was removed from the agenda and tabled to the December 
6, 2021 City Council during the approval of the agenda. 
 

14. AGREEMENT TO PARTICIPATE IN THE LOW-INCOME HOUSEHOLD WATER ASSISTANCE 
PROGRAM:  City Clerk Banister provided an overview of the federally funded program to assist low-
income households pay their water and sewer bills.   
 

Motion to approve the agreement to participate in the Low-Income Household Water Assistance 
Program (LIHWAP) made by M. French; second by W. Illg.  Vote carried unanimously in favor. (3-0) 

 
WORK SESSION 
 

15. WATER AND SEWER SENIOR DISCOUNT REVIEW:  City Manager Bolz provided a brief review of 
the ordinance which provides for a 15% discount on water and sewer to senior citizens and 
recommended amending Sec. 14-22 (e)(2) of the ordinance to remove the requirement of providing 
a social security statement or a tax return demonstrating the annual income of the applicant and 
replace it to require an income tax return representing the annual income requirement to be equal to 
or less than $25,0000.00.  If their income is below $12,400 and the resident is not required to file an 
income tax return, a social security statement representing their income will be used for verification 
of their income. 
 

Motion to approve the recommended change and to have the ordinance amendment developed made 
by W. Illg; second by M. French.  Vote carried unanimously in favor. (3-0) 

 

STAFF REPORTS 
 

16. BOB BOLZ, CITY MANAGER:  City Manager Bolz provided his report in the agenda packet and 
reported the leak adjustment this month was $639.13; no questions from Council 

 

17. ROBIN GAZAWAY, FINANCE ADMINISTRATOR:  Financial reports representing fund balances and 
activity through September 30, 2021 were provided in the agenda packet.  No questions from Council. 

 
   

 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION 

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, October 18, 2021 

5:00 P.M. 
 

Page 3 of 3 
 

18. EXECUTIVE SESSION: 
 

 At 5:49 p.m. a motion to close regular session and go into executive session for potential litigation 
was made by J. Walden; second by M. French. Mayor Eason stated he does not anticipate a vote 
after the executive session.  Vote carried unanimously in favor. (3-0) 

  

 At 6:12 p.m. a motion to close executive session was made by M. French; second by J. Walden.  Vote 
carried unanimously in favor. (3-0) 

 

 Motion to resume regular session was made by W. Illg; second by J. Walden.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor. (3-0) 
 

ADJOURNMENT:   
 

At 6:14 p.m. a motion to adjourn the meeting was made by J. Walden; second by W. Illg.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor. (3-0) 

                                                                                
 

  Approved this 1st day of November 2021. 
 
By: CITY OF DAWSONVILLE 

         
   ___________________________________ 
   Mike Eason, Mayor 
 
   ___________________________________  
   Caleb Phillips, Councilmember Post 1 

 
         
   William Illg, Councilmember Post 2  

 
         
   John Walden, Councilmember Post 3 
 
   ___________________________________ 
   Mark French, Councilmember Post 4 
    
 
Attested: _________________________        
               Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk 





   Exhibit "A"



 
PUBLIC NOTICE 

2022 Meetings of the City of Dawsonville  
The City of Dawsonville City Council, DDA, Planning Commission and 

HPC shall conduct regular meetings on the dates and time below: 
 

2022 City Council Regular Meetings at 5:00 pm 
JAN 6     FEB 7     MAR 7     MAY 2     JUN 6 

     AUG 1     OCT 3     NOV 7     DEC 5 

2022 City Council Regular Meetings and Work Sessions at 5:00 pm 
   JAN 20   FEB 21   MAR 21   APR 18    MAY 16   JUN 20 
JUL 18   AUG 15   SEP 19    OCT 17    NOV 21   DEC 19 

2022 Planning Commission Meetings at 5:30 pm 
JAN 10   FEB 14   MAR 14   APR 11   MAY 9   JUN 13 
JUL 11   AUG 8   SEP 12    OCT 10    NOV 14   DEC 12 

2022 Historic Preservation Commission Meetings at 5:30 pm 
FEB 28   APR 25    JUN 27    AUG 22    OCT 24     DEC 13 

2022 Downtown Development Authority Meetings at 5:30 pm 

JAN 24   MAR 28    MAY 23    JUL 25    SEP 26     NOV 28 

All meetings according to the dates set forth above will be upstairs in the G.L. 
“Pete” Gilleland Council Chambers at City Hall located at 415 HWY 53 E, 

Dawsonville, GA. The public is invited to attend all of these meetings. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Exhibit "B"



Exhibit "C"



Exhibit "D"



Exhibit "D"



Exhibit "D"



Exhibit "D"



Exhibit "D"



 
Exhibit "D"



 
Exhibit "D"



Exhibit "D"



 
Exhibit "D"



 
Exhibit "D"



 
Exhibit "D"



 
Exhibit "D"



 
Exhibit "D"



 
Exhibit "D"



 
Exhibit "D"



 
Exhibit "D"



 
Exhibit "D"



 
Exhibit "D"



 
Exhibit "D"



 
Exhibit "D"



 
Exhibit "D"



Exhibit "D"



 
Exhibit "D"



 
Exhibit "D"



 
Exhibit "D"



 
Exhibit "D"



 
Exhibit "D"



 
Exhibit "D"



 
Exhibit "D"



 
Exhibit "D"



 
Exhibit "D"



 
Exhibit "D"



 
Exhibit "D"



 
Exhibit "D"



 
Exhibit "D"



 
Exhibit "D"



 
Exhibit "D"



 
Exhibit "D"



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   APPROVE RESOLUTION IN SUPPORT OF AMICALOLA FALLS SCENIC BYWAY  

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  11/01/2021    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
 

 TO CONSIDER APPROVAL OF RESOLUTION IN SUPPORT OF AMICALOLA FALLS SCENIC BYWAY     
 
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

MANDY POWER PRESENTED THE OVERVIEW OF THE SCENIC BYWAY AT THE 10/18/2021 WORK 
SESSION; COUNCIL VOTED TO APPROVE MOVING FORWARD IN SUPPORT OF THE REQUEST 
   

 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Mike Eason, Mayor________ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   7b     
 

 

 



 

Page 1 of 2 
 

RESOLUTION R2021-07 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF SUPPORT FOR THE AMICALOLA FALLS SCENIC 
BYWAY 

 
WHEREAS, the Dawson County Chamber of Commerce has identified a route 

that follows City of Dawsonville down Hwy 183 and Hwy 136, past Amicalola Falls State 
Park and over Burnt Mountain, which contains significant scenic, natural, historic, 
cultural, archeological, or recreational qualities; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Dawson County Chamber of Commerce is seeking to gain 
“Georgia Scenic Byway” designation for the route from the Georgia Department of 
Transportation; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Dawsonville City Council has been advised on details of the 
Georgia Scenic Byways Program, the proposed byway, and the benefits of designation; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, designation of this route will support the objectives of this body to 
protect, promote, enhance, and interpret the outstanding intrinsic qualities of 
Dawsonville; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Georgia Scenic Byways Program is a tool to encourage tourism 
and responsible development, bringing positive economic benefits and opportunities to 
this community. 
 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Dawsonville City Council 
having met and considered the matter in open session on November 1, 2021, hereby fully 
endorses the Designation Application, for the proposed Amicalola Falls Scenic Byway; 
 

FURTHER, the Dawsonville City Council in its endorsement of this application, 
acknowledges the efforts of the Dawson County Chamber of Commerce in undertaking 
this project and will support the completion of the designation process. 
 
SO RESOLVED this 1st day of November, 2021 
 

MAYOR AND DAWSONVILLE CITY  
 COUNCIL 
 
 

By:        
       Mike Eason, Mayor 
 
 

       
Caleb Phillips, Councilmember Post 1 



 

Page 2 of 2 
 

 
             
             
       William Illg, Councilmember Post 2 
 
             
             
       John Walden, Councilmember Post 3 
 
 
             
       Mark French, Councilmember Post 4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ATTESTED TO BY: 
 
 
       
Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



                                           
 

 

SUBJECT:   NAMING PUBLIC ROAD IN CITY HALL COMPLEX 
 

     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  11/01/2021    
 

  
 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #_______________________________________ 

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST:  
 
TO REPORT ON THE ROAD BEHIND THE CITY HALL COMPLEX OFF OF ALLEN STREET 
 
 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES 
 

• PRESENTED AT THE 09/20/2021 WORK SESSION AND THE 10/04/2021 MEETING; TABLED TO 
11/01/2021 TO CHECK INTO ROAD NAMES WITH 911 
 

• DAWSON COUNTY 911/GIS ANALYST CONFIRMED THE ROAD IS ALREADY NAMED MAIN 
STREET IN THEIR SYSTEM 
 

 
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 NO ACTION NEEDED UNLESS CITY COUNCIL WISHES TO CHANGE THE NAME 
________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 RECOMMEND KEEPING THE ROAD NAMED MAIN STREET 
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: ___Bob Bolz, City Manager__________ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM # 8 
 

 

 



 



                                           
 

 

SUBJECT:  MAPLE HILL DRIVE DETENTION POND________________ 
 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:             11/01/2021      
 

 

PURPOSE FOR REQUEST:  
 
TO CONSIDER REQUEST FROM PROPERTY OWNERS 
 

 
 
HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

• PRESENTED AT THE 09/20/2021 WORK SESSION AND THE 10/04/2021 MEETING; 
TABLED TO THE 11/01/2021 CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

 
Gary & Katelyn Gravitt and James & Julie Morgan have petitioned the city to perform permanent 
maintenance of the detention pond at 80 and 91 Maple Hill Drive. 
 
• Detention pond was constructed in 2003. 
• Morgan’s purchased property in 2003. 
• Gravitt’s purchased property in 2017. 
• Subdivision does not have a dedicated HOA. 
• Detention pond serves all 13 lots. 
• Planning Department searched council minutes and found no official dedication to the city. 
• Storm water Ordinance Chapter 107-195 allows the city to do maintenance work and issue a lien 

on property.  
 
________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

OPTIONS:  
 
RECOMMEND TO TABLE ITEM TO THE DECEMBER 20, 2021 CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 

 
 

DEPARTMENT:  Planning and Zoning 
 

REQUESTED BY: David Picklesimer  

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM # 9 
 

























                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   BUDGET AMENDMENT – PREPARATION OF APPLICATION FOR AMERICAN 

RESCUE PLAN GRANT FUNDING 
 

     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  11/01/2021    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

    TO REQUEST A BUDGET AMENDMENT FROM GENERAL FUND RESERVES IN THE AMOUNT OF $2,200 
TO DIRECT LEAD EDGE TO PREPARE AN ARP GRANT APPLICATION CONCERNING THE ELIOTT 
FIELD AIRPORT 

     
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Bob Bolz, City Manager 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   10     
 

 

 







                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   2022 LEASE RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  11/01/2021    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
 

    TO PRESENT THE 2022 LEASE RECOMMENDATIONS FOR THE DAWSONVILLE HISTORY 
MUSEUM AND THE DAWSONVILLE MOONSHINE DISTILLERY 

     
    
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

• DISTILLERY LEASE RECOMMENDATION: TERMS THE SAME AS 2021 
 

• MUSEUM RECOMMENDATION:  ADD THE WINNER’S CIRCLE TO THEIR LEASED 
SPACE WITH TERMS THE SAME AS 2021 
 

• LEGAL TO REVIEW AND MAKE CHANGES AS REQUESTED; FINAL DOCUMENTS 
WILL BE PRESENTED AT THE 11/15/2021 CITY COUNCIL MEETING TO CONSIDER 
APPROVAL 

 
   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Bob Bolz, City Manager______ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   11     
 

 

 



 

1 
 

 SUB-LEASE AGREEMENT 

This Sub-Lease agreement (“Sub-Lease”) is entered into effective the 1st day of 

January, 2022 by and between THE CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, a Georgia municipal 

corporation, whose address is 415 Hwy. 53 East, Suite 100, Dawsonville, Georgia 30534 

(“Lessor”) and DAWSONVILLE HISTORY MUSEUM, INC., a Georgia non-profit 

corporation d/b/a Georgia Racing Hall of Fame, (“Lessee”), whose address is 415 Hwy. 

53 East, Suite 110, Dawsonville, Georgia 30534. 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, the Lessor entered into a lease-purchase agreement (“City Lease”) 

with the Downtown Development Authority of the City of Dawsonville, for the lease-

purchase of certain property and facilities (“Premises”) located at 415 Hwy. 53 East, 

Dawsonville, Georgia 30534, which is known as the City Hall/Dawsonville Municipal 

Complex; and 

WHEREAS, the Premises includes several tenant spaces, including a museum and 

a retail/manufacturing space, of which the museum space is available for sub-lease and 

suitable for Lessee’s use; and 

WHEREAS, the Lessor desires to sub-lease the museum space, as fully depicted in 

Exhibit “A” attached hereto and fully incorporated herein (“Museum Space”), to Lessee 

for the operation by Lessee of the Georgia Racing Hall of Fame, which will be in general 

open to the public, pursuant to the terms and conditions of the City Lease. 

NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants and 

obligations set forth herein and in consideration of One Dollar ($1.00) and other good 

and valuable consideration mutually exchanged this date between parties hereto, the 



 

2 
 

receipt and adequacy of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties hereby agree as 

follows: 

1. Premises and Use. Lessee shall be permitted to occupy and utilize the areas of 

the Premises depicted in Exhibit A, otherwise known as the Museum Space, for the 

purpose of operating the Georgia Racing Hall of Fame Museum, which shall be open to 

the public and maintain business hours as deemed appropriate by Lessee, so long as, such 

operations do not materially interfere with the business and operations of the City of 

Dawsonville.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Lessor shall be 

permitted at no cost to Lessor to use the Alleyway, Men’s and Women’s Bathrooms and 

the Conference Room depicted upon Exhibit A for City sponsored events so long as said 

use does not materially interfere with the Lessee’s reasonable use of these areas. 

2. Subject to City Lease. Lessee expressly acknowledges and understands the 

terms and conditions of the City Lease and agrees that Lessee shall be subject to the terms 

and conditions set forth in the City Lease, which terms are expressly incorporated into 

this Sub-Lease, unless otherwise expressly stated herein.  

3. Sub-Lease Term. This Sub-Lease shall commence on January 1, 2022, for the 

period of twelve months (“Lease Term”) terminating on December 31, 2022. The Sub-

Lease Term is NOT subject to an automatic renewal. This Sub-Lease shall automatically 

terminate, upon ninety (90) days prior notice from the Lessor, in the event that the City 

Lease is terminated prior to the expiration of the current Sub-Lease Term.   

4. Rent. Lessee covenants and agrees to pay Lessor a rent amount as rent for the 

Museum Space during the Sub-Lease Term which will be as follows:  



 

3 
 

A. Lessee will pay to Lessor Base Rent in the amount of $250.00 (two hundred and 

fifty and no/100 dollars) per month for the Museum Space.  Rent will be due and 

payable by the 5th day of every month, and if not actually received by the City by 

the 10th of the month the rental payment shall be late. For any late payment 

received after the 10th of the month Lessee shall pay to the City a 5% penalty. 

Penalty payment shall be due immediately and must be included with payment of 

past due rent. 

B.  Lessee will pay to Lessor Percentage Rent in such amount as is determined by 

subtracting base rent, utilities and cost of retail purchases from gross receipts from museum 

operations and multiplying that difference by 15% (fifteen percent).  Percentage rent is 

capped each year at the amount that is paid by the City to an independent contractor for the 

purpose of providing management to the Dawsonville History Museum, plus the cost of 

any liability insurance coverage for such person.  Percentage rent may be summarized by 

the following formula: 

(Gross Receipts – (Base Rent + Utilities + Cost of Retail Purchases)) * 15% = Percentage Rent 
 

Utilities include water, sewer, natural gas, electricity.  Cost of retail purchases shall mean 

the funds expended by Lessee for products which Lessee resells in order to generate 

revenue including memorabilia, souvenirs, clothing, hats, and similar such items. 

C.  The payments referred to in Paragraph 4, Subparagraphs A and B shall be collectively 

referred to as “Rent.”  Rent will be due and payable by the 5th day of every month, and if 

not actually received by the City by the 10th of the month the rental payment shall be 

late. For any late payment received after the 10th of the month Lessee shall pay to the 



 

4 
 

City a 5% penalty. Penalty payment shall be due immediately and must be included with 

payment of past due rent. 

5. Parking. Lessee and its employees shall have the right to use the public parking 

spaces or parking areas near or adjacent to the City Hall/Dawsonville Municipal Complex. 

All such parking shall be on a nonexclusive, non-assigned basis. Lessee shall not use or 

permit its employees or invitees to use any spaces which have been specifically reserved 

by Lessor to other tenants or for such other uses as have been designated as being 

restricted to certain uses. Lessee shall at all times comply and cause its employees and 

invitees to comply with any parking rules and regulations as Lessor may from time to time 

reasonably adopt. At no time will Lessee or its employees use any parking spaces for 

storage or containers of any type or description. At no time will Lessee, its employees, or 

its customers use areas not specifically designated for parking as parking spots or areas, 

or for storage. Lessor assumes no liability or risk for any damage that may occur to the 

vehicles or other property of Lessee, its employees, customers or others in any parking 

area or common area. 

6. Storage, Store Fronts, and Unpermitted Uses/Activities. Lessee agrees to 

maintain the Museum Space in a clean condition. Lessee agrees to not use the Museum 

Space as a long-term storage facility for items, except in areas specifically designated for 

the purpose of storage, such as closets. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Lessee shall have 

the right to store items necessary for the proper operation of the Museum for a period of 

time not to exceed three (3) business days. However, such storage shall not impede, 

obstruct, or in any way interfere with the normal operations of the City and/or any other 

tenants or visitors to the Premises. At no time will Lessee store any item that is 

https://www.lawinsider.com/clause/parking


 

5 
 

unnecessary for the proper operation of its business within the Museum Space or the 

parking area. 

7. Insurance and other charges. Lessee agrees to and shall pay for general 

liability insurance and shall name the Lessor as certificate holder or additional insured 

under the policy of insurance. Lessee shall keep the general liability policy in full force 

and affect for the full Sub-Lease Term with coverage in the amount of at least $1 million 

per person / $2 million per occurrence. Lessee is responsible for all other forms of 

insurance (i.e. workers comp, etc.) as may be required by law, except as may be expressly 

assumed by Lessor in writing.  

8. Improvements. To the extent Lessee desires to modify, change or improve the 

Museum Space for Lessee’s intended use, all such costs shall be borne by Lessee, and no 

such costs shall be the responsibility of Lessor. Any plans for modifications or 

improvements must be presented to and approved in writing by Lessor prior to initiation 

of any change, modification or construction. 

9. Utilities. Lessee is responsible for all utilities associated with its occupation and 

use of the Museum Space including, but not limited to, water, sewer, natural gas, and 

electricity. Lessee shall install and maintain any necessary utility meters or sub-meters at 

Lessee’s expense.  

10. Garbage/Dumpster Removal Services.  Lessor shall provide access to Lessee 

to the Lessor’s dumpster located on the property adjacent to the Premises for Lessee’s 

normal weekly garbage usage.  Lessee shall not deposit any hazardous substances in the 

dumpster or place any garbage or trash outside of the dumpster at any time.  All garbage 

and trash from Lessee’s use of the Premises shall be hauled to and deposited in the 



 

6 
 

dumpster by Lessee on at least a weekly basis.  

11. Pest Control. Lessee, at its cost, shall at all times keep the Premises free of pests. 

Lessor may elect to implement a program of pest control and, in such event, Lessee hereby 

grants Lessor the right to enter the Premises and perform such spraying and/or 

inspections that Lessor deems appropriate, and Lessee shall reimburse Lessor for Lessee's 

share of the cost of such program. If Lessor does not elect to implement a pest control 

program, Lessee shall implement a program of pest control satisfactory to Lessor which 

may include, without limitation, (a) moving any furniture, fixtures, equipment, displays 

or inventory during inspections and spraying by Lessee's exterminator; and (b) 

maintaining the Premises in a clean, trash-free and sanitary condition. Lessee further 

acknowledges that Lessee's exterminator shall, in an environmentally safe way, perform 

inspections and/or spraying at least every month. If Lessee fails to promptly and fully 

comply with this Section, Lessor shall have the right, but not the obligation, to enter the 

Premises to perform such spraying or inspections at Lessee's expense. Performance of 

such work by Lessor shall not constitute a waiver of Lessee’s default in failing to do the 

same and neither shall it entitle Lessee to any damages for any injury or inconvenience 

occasioned thereby nor to any abatement of rent. Lessee shall reimburse Lessor for any 

cost incurred by Lessor pursuant to this Section upon demand therefor. 

12. Security Deposit. Because of the relationship between Lessor and Lessee and 

Lessee’s status as a non-profit corporation operating a museum for the benefit of the 

general public, no Security Deposit shall be required from Lessee for this Sub-Lease.   

13. Binding Effect and Severability. The provisions of this Sub-Lease shall be 

binding upon and inure to the benefit of both parties and their respective successors and 

https://www.lawinsider.com/clause/pest-control


 

7 
 

assigns. If any provision of this Sub-Lease or any application thereof shall be invalid or 

unenforceable, the remainder of this Sub-Lease and any other application of such 

provision shall not be affected thereby. 

14. Quiet Enjoyment. Upon due performance by Lessee of its covenants and 

agreements under this Sub-Lease, Lessor covenants that Lessee shall and may at all times 

peaceably and quietly have, hold, and enjoy the Museum Space during the Sub-Lease 

Term.  

15. Headings. The Section headings are for convenience and reference only and shall 

not be used to limit or otherwise affect the meaning of any provision of this Sub-Lease. 

16. Counterparts. This Sub-Lease may be simultaneously executed in two or more 

counterparts, each of which shall be deemed a fully enforceable original but all of which 

together shall constitute one and the same instrument. 

17. Governing law, Venue and Jurisdiction. This Sub-Lease shall be construed 

in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of Georgia. Both parties hereby 

consent to jurisdiction and venue in Dawson County, Georgia in any action brought to 

enforce any provision of this Sub-Lease. 

18. Relationship of parties. Lessor and Lessee shall not be considered or deemed 

to be joint venturers or partners and neither shall have the power to bind or obligate the 

other except as set forth herein.  In the event that Lessor engages a person or entity for 

the purpose of providing management related to  Lessee  and Lessee’s use of the Museum 

Space, such shall not change the relationship of the parties or anything in this Paragraph 

18.  The foregoing notwithstanding, the continued cooperation between Lessor, Lessee 

and any such individual or entity as determined in Lessor’s discretion is a material term 



 

8 
 

of this lease, and the lack of such cooperation may be grounds for termination of this 

Lease Agreement.

19. Default. Lessee shall be in default if it fails to pay any rent or any other obligation 

when due to Lessor or fails to comply with any of the requirements of this Sub-Lease 

applicable to Lessee, including but not limited to the requirement to work in conjunction 

with any person or entity engaged by Lessor for management of the Museum Space, 

compliance with which is determined in Lessor’s discretion. In the event Lessee defaults, 

Lessor may terminate this Sub-Lease and pursue such remedies as are allowed by law. 

Included among these remedies shall be the right of Lessor to recover all rents owed under 

the Sub-Lease for the unexpired portion of the Sub-Lease Term. Upon a default and prior 

to exercising any remedy hereunder or allowed by law, Lessor shall provide Lessee written 

notice of the default and of Lessor’s intent to exercise remedies unless the default is cured 

within ten (10) days following receipt of the notice of default. Should Lessee fail to cure 

the default within ten (10) days following receipt of the notice of default, Lessor will be 

immediately entitled to take possession of the Museum Space. Lessee waives any further 

right to notice prior to Lessor pursuing remedies other than those contained herein. 

Lessor shall be in default if it fails to comply with any of the requirements of this 

Sub-Lease applicable to Lessor. In the event Lessor defaults, Lessee’s sole and exclusive 

remedy shall be to terminate this Sub-Lease without further recourse against Lessor. 

Prior to exercising that remedy Lessee shall provide Lessor with written notice of the 

default and of Lessee’s intent to exercise its remedy unless the default is cured within ten 

(10) days following receipt of the notice of default. 

20. Construction. All terms used in this Sub-Lease, regardless of the number or 



 

9 
 

gender in which they are used, shall be deemed and construed to include any other 

number, singular or plural, and by other gender, masculine, feminine, or neuter, as the 

context or sense of this Sub-Lease or any section, subsection, or clause herein may require 

as if such terms had been fully and properly written in such number or gender. 

21. Modification. No changes, additions, or interlineations made to this Sub-Lease 

shall be binding unless initialed by both parties. 

22. Non-waiver. No delay or failure by either party to exercise any right under this 

Sub-Lease, and no partial or single exercise of that right, shall constitute a waiver of that 

or any other right, unless otherwise expressly provided herein. 

23. Time of essence. Time is expressly declared to be of the essence of this Sub-

Lease. 

24. Entire Agreement. This Sub-Lease supersedes all agreements previously made 

between the parties relating to its subject matter. There are no other understandings or 

agreements between them. 

 

[execution on following page] 

In witness whereof the parties have executed this Sub-Lease effective as of the date first 

above written. 

 

LESSOR:  LESSEE: 
CITY OF DAWSONVILLE  DAWSONVILLE HISTORY MUSEUM, 

INC.  
 
 
 
___________________________  ___________________________ 
By: Mike Eason, Mayor  By:  



DRAFT



 

Page 1 of 9 
 

 SUB-LEASE AGREEMENT 

This Sub-Lease agreement (“Sub-Lease”) is entered into effective this 1st day of 

January, 2022 by and between THE CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, a Georgia municipal 

corporation, whose address is 415 Hwy. 53 East, Suite 100, Dawsonville, Georgia 30534 

(“Lessor”) and FREE SPIRITS DISTILLERY, LLC, d/b/a Dawsonville Moonshine 

Distillery, (“Lessee”), whose address is 415 Hwy. 53 East, Suite 120, Dawsonville, Georgia 

30534. 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, the Lessor entered into a lease-purchase agreement (“City Lease”) 

with the Downtown Development Authority of the City of Dawsonville, for the lease-

purchase of certain property and facilities (“Premises”) located at 415 Hwy. 53 East, 

Dawsonville, Georgia 30534, which is known as the City Hall/Dawsonville Municipal 

Complex; and 

WHEREAS, the Premises includes several tenant spaces, including a museum and 

a retail/manufacturing space, of which the retail/manufacturing space is available for 

sub-lease and suitable for Lessee’s use; and 

WHEREAS, the Lessor desires to sub-lease the retail/manufacturing space, as fully 

depicted in Exhibit “A” attached hereto and fully incorporated herein (“Distillery Space”), 

to Lessee for the operation of Free Spirits Distillery, LLC, d/b/a Dawsonville Moonshine 

Distillery, which will be in general open to the public, pursuant to the terms and 

conditions of the City Lease and as allowed or provided by state and federal law. 

NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants and 

obligations set forth herein and in consideration of One Dollar ($1.00) and other good 



 

Page 2 of 9 
 

and valuable consideration mutually exchanged this date between parties hereto, the 

receipt and adequacy of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties hereby agree as 

follows: 

1. Premises and Use. Lessee shall be permitted to occupy and utilize the areas of 

the Premises depicted in Exhibit A, otherwise known as the Distillery Space, for the 

purpose of operating Free Spirits Distillery, LLC, d/b/a Dawsonville Moonshine 

Distillery, which shall be open to the public and maintain business hours as deemed 

appropriate by Lessee and as regulated by both state and federal law, so long as, such 

operations do not materially interfere with the business and operations of the City of 

Dawsonville.   

2. Subject to City Lease. Lessee expressly acknowledges and understands the 

terms and conditions of the City Lease, and agrees that Lessee shall be subject to the terms 

and conditions set forth in the City Lease, which terms are expressly incorporated into 

this agreement, unless otherwise expressly stated herein.  

3. Sub-Lease Term. This Sub-Lease shall commence on January 1, 2022, for the 

period of twelve months (“Lease Term”) terminating on December 31, 2022. The Sub-

Lease Term is NOT subject to an automatic renewal. This Sub-Lease shall automatically 

terminate, upon ninety (90) days prior notice from the Lessor, in the event that the City 

Lease is terminated prior to the expiration of the current Sub-Lease Term.   

4. Rent. Lessee covenants and agrees to pay Lessor a rent amount as rent for the 

Distillery Space during the Sub-Lease Term which will be as follows: Lessee will pay to 

Lessor rent in the amount of Three Thousand and no/100 Dollars ($3,000.00) per month 

for the Distillery Space Suite 120.  Rent will be due and payable by the 5th day of every 



 

Page 3 of 9 
 

month, and if not actually received by the City by the 10th of the month the rental payment 

shall be late. For any late payment received after the 10th of the month Lessee shall pay to 

the City a 5% penalty. Penalty payment shall be due immediately and must be included 

with payment of past due rent. 

5. Parking. Lessee and its employees shall have the right to use the public parking 

spaces or parking areas near or adjacent to the City Hall/Dawsonville Municipal Complex. 

All such parking shall be on a nonexclusive, non-assigned basis. Lessee shall not use or 

permit its employees or invitees to use any spaces which have been specifically reserved 

by Lessor to other tenants or for such other uses as have been designated as being 

restricted to certain uses. Lessee shall at all times comply and cause its employees and 

invitees to comply with any parking rules and regulations as Lessor may from time to time 

reasonably adopt. At no time will Lessee or its employees use any parking spaces for 

storage or containers of any type or description. At no time will Lessee, its employees, or 

its customers use areas not specifically designated for parking as parking spots or areas, 

or for storage, including, but in no way limited to, the decorative area surrounding the 

replica gas pumps or store entrances. Lessor assumes no liability or risk for any damage 

that may occur to the vehicles or other property of Lessee, its employees, customers or 

others in any parking area or common area. 

6. Storage, Store Fronts, and Unpermitted Uses/Activities. Lessee agrees to 

maintain the Distillery Space in a clean condition. Lessee agrees to not use the Distillery 

Space as a long-term storage facility for items, except in areas specifically designated for 

the purpose of storage, such as closets. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Lessee shall have 

the right to store agricultural products and/or empty agricultural product containers 

https://www.lawinsider.com/clause/parking


 

Page 4 of 9 
 

outside of the Distillery Space for a period of time not to exceed five (5) days. However, 

such storage shall not impede, obstruct, or in any way interfere with the normal 

operations of the City and/or any other tenants or visitors to the Premises. At no time will 

Lessee store any item that is unnecessary for the proper operation of its business within 

the Distillery Space or the parking area. At no time will Lessee use the parking lot, 

decorative area in front of the replica gas pumps or store fronts, or the decorative, pressed 

sidewalk for its business activities or operations, including, but in no way limited to, the 

manufacturing of its product(s). All manufacturing activities shall take place in the 

Distillery Space and shall not impede, obstruct, or in any way interfere with the normal 

operations of the City and/or any other tenants or visitors to the Premises. 

7. Insurance and other charges. Lessee agrees to and shall pay for general 

liability insurance and shall name the Lessor as certificate holder or additional insured 

under the policy of insurance. Lessee shall keep the general liability policy in full force 

and affect for the full Sub-Lease Term with coverage in the amount of at least $1 million 

per person / $2 million per occurrence. Lessee is responsible for all other forms of 

insurance (i.e. workers comp, etc.) as may be required by law.  

8. Improvements. To the extent Lessee desires to modify, change or improve the 

Distillery Space for Lessee’s intended use, all such costs shall be borne by Lessee, and no 

such costs shall be the responsibility of Lessor. Any plans for modifications or 

improvements must be presented to and approved in writing by Lessor prior to initiation 

of any change, modification or construction. 

9. Utilities. Lessee is responsible for all utilities associated with its occupation and 

use of the Distillery Space including, but not limited to, water, sewer, natural gas, and 



 

Page 5 of 9 
 

electricity. Lessee shall install and maintain any necessary utility meters or sub-meters at 

Lessee’s expense.  

10. Garbage/Dumpster Removal Services.  Lessor shall provide access to Lessee 

to the Lessor’s dumpster located on the property adjacent to the Premises for Lessee’s 

normal weekly garbage usage.  Lessee shall not deposit any hazardous substances in the 

dumpster or place any garbage or trash outside of the dumpster at any time.  All garbage 

and trash from Lessee’s use of the Premises shall be hauled to and deposited in the 

dumpster by Lessee on at least a weekly basis.  

11. Pest Control. Lessee, at its cost, shall at all times keep the Premises free of pests. 

Lessee shall implement a program of pest control satisfactory to Lessor which may 

include, without limitation, (a) moving any furniture, fixtures, equipment, or inventory 

during inspections and spraying by Lessee's exterminator; and (b) maintaining the 

Premises in a clean, trash-free and sanitary condition. Lessee further acknowledges that 

Lessee's exterminator shall, in an environmentally safe way, perform inspections and/or 

spraying at least once every month; however, such inspections and/or spraying may be 

required to occur every two (2) weeks if Lessor deems such spraying necessary. If Lessee 

fails to promptly and fully comply with this Section, Lessor shall have the right, but not 

the obligation, to enter the Premises to perform such spraying or inspections at Lessee's 

expense. Performance of such work by Lessor shall not constitute a waiver of Lessee’s 

default in failing to do the same and neither shall it entitle Lessee to any damages for any 

injury or inconvenience occasioned thereby nor to any abatement of rent. Lessee shall 

reimburse Lessor for any cost incurred by Lessor pursuant to this Section upon demand 

therefor. 

https://www.lawinsider.com/clause/pest-control


 

Page 6 of 9 
 

12. Security Deposit. Contemporaneous with the execution hereof, Lessee has on 

deposit with Lessor the sum of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00) paid on March 16, 2011 

as a Security Deposit for the proper performance of all obligations of Lessee hereunder. 

Lessor shall hold the Security Deposit in a non-interest bearing account and shall return 

the same to Lessee upon the expiration of this Sub-Lease with all obligations of the Lessee 

fully performed and completed and the premises returned to Lessor in broom clean 

undamaged condition, natural wear and tear excepted.  

13. Binding Effect and Severability. The provisions of this Sub-Lease shall be 

binding upon and inure to the benefit of both parties and their respective successors and 

assigns. If any provision of this Sub-Lease or any application thereof shall be invalid or 

unenforceable, the remainder of this Sub-Lease and any other application of such 

provision shall not be affected thereby. 

14. Quiet Enjoyment. Upon due performance by Lessee of its covenants and 

agreements under this Sub-Lease, Lessor covenants that Lessee shall and may at all times 

peaceably and quietly have, hold, and enjoy the Distillery Space during the Sub-Lease 

Term.  

15. Headings. The Section headings are for convenience and reference only and shall 

not be used to limit or otherwise affect the meaning of any provision of this Sub-Lease. 

16. Counterparts. This Sub-Lease may be simultaneously executed in two or more 

counterparts, each of which shall be deemed a fully enforceable original but all of which 

together shall constitute one and the same instrument. 

17. Governing law, Venue and Jurisdiction. This Sub-Lease shall be construed 

in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of Georgia. Both parties hereby 



 

Page 7 of 9 
 

consent to jurisdiction and venue in Dawson County, Georgia in any action brought to 

enforce any provision of this Sub-Lease. 

18. Relationship of parties. Lessor and Lessee shall not be considered or deemed 

to be joint venturers or partners and neither shall have the power to bind or obligate the 

other except as set forth herein. 

19. Default. Lessee shall be in default if it fails to pay any rent or any other obligation 

when due to Lessor or fails to comply with any of the requirements of this Sub-Lease 

applicable to Lessee. In the event Lessee defaults, Lessor may terminate this Sub-Lease 

and pursue such remedies as are allowed by law. Included among these remedies shall be 

the right of Lessor to recover all rents owed under the Sub-Lease for the unexpired portion 

of the Sub-Lease Term. Upon a default and prior to exercising any remedy hereunder or 

allowed by law, Lessor shall provide Lessee written notice of the default and of Lessor’s 

intent to exercise remedies unless the default is cured within ten (10) days following 

receipt of the notice of default. Should Lessee fail to cure the default within ten (10) days 

following receipt of the notice of default, Lessor will be immediately entitled to take 

possession of the Distillery Space. Lessee waives any further right to notice prior to Lessor 

pursuing remedies other than those contained herein. 

Lessor shall be in default if it fails to comply with any of the requirements of this 

Sub-Lease applicable to Lessor. In the event Lessor defaults, Lessee’s sole and exclusive 

remedy shall be to terminate this Sub-Lease without further recourse against Lessor. 

Prior to exercising that remedy Lessee shall provide Lessor with written notice of the 

default and of Lessee’s intent to exercise its remedy unless the default is cured within ten 

(10) days following receipt of the notice of default. 



 

Page 8 of 9 
 

20. Guaranty. Notwithstanding the fact that Lessee is a corporation or other legal 

entity, by execution hereof, the undersigned owners, operators, members or 

shareholders of Lessee (“Guarantor”) hereby personally guarantee full, proper and 

satisfactory performance of all terms of this Sub-Lease by the Lessee. Upon written 

notice of default of this Sub-Lease, Lessor shall have all right and remedies against 

Guarantor as are available against Lessee. 

 

21. Construction. All terms used in this Sub-Lease, regardless of the number or 

gender in which they are used, shall be deemed and construed to include any other 

number, singular or plural, and by other gender, masculine, feminine, or neuter, as the 

context or sense of this Sub-Lease or any section, subsection, or clause herein may require 

as if such terms had been fully and properly written in such number or gender. 

22. Modification. No changes, additions, or interlineations made to this Sub-Lease 

shall be binding unless initialed by both parties. 

23. Non-waiver. No delay or failure by either party to exercise any right under this 

Sub-Lease, and no partial or single exercise of that right, shall constitute a waiver of that 

or any other right, unless otherwise expressly provided herein. 

24. Time of essence. Time is expressly declared to be of the essence of this Sub-

Lease. 

25. Entire Agreement. This Sub-Lease supersedes all agreements previously made 

between the parties relating to its subject matter. There are no other understandings or 

agreements between them. 

 



 

Page 9 of 9 
 

In witness whereof the parties have executed this Sub-Lease effective as of the date first 

above written. 

LESSOR:  LESSEE: 
CITY OF DAWSONVILLE  FREE SPIRITS DISTILLERY, LLC  
 
 
 
___________________________  ___________________________ 
By: Mike Eason, Mayor  Cheryl Wood, Member

 

 

 

PERSONAL GUARANTY 

 The undersigned, being the sole member of Free Spirits Distillery, LLC, d/b/a 

Dawsonville Moonshine Distillery, for valuable consideration received, hereby 

unconditionally guaranties all performance and payment obligations of Free Spirits 

Distillery, LLC, d/b/a Dawsonville Moonshine Distillery, under the terms of this Sub-

Lease.  

This ____ day of _______ 20__. 

 

 

 
____________________________________ 
Cheryl Wood 

 



-��<S½n, __ ,, 

WATER PAYMENT 

DRDPBOX 

WINNER'S 
CIRCLE 

CITY 
HALL 

THEATER 

mJ 

-

MUSEUM 

DONATION 
BOX 

ALLEYWAY 

DUMPSTER 

GORDON PIRKLE 

VICTORY LANE 
CONFERENCE ROOM 

MUSEUM 

:a 
"'o 
zo 
w 0: 
:a :i: 
0 c; 
3: "' 

:a 
0 
0 

"' "'

z :i: 

w c; 
;ea, 

EXHIBIT "A"

DRAFT



                                           
 

 

     SUBJECT:   ORDINANCE AMENDMENT– WATER/SEWER RATE DISCOUNT FOR 
SENIOR CITIZENS 

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  11/01/2021       
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #  NA      

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST:      FIRST READING 
  
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA, TO PROVIDE FOR APPLICATION OF 
RATES TO CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS; TO PROVIDE FOR DISCOUNTS IN SPECIFICALLY APPROVED 
CIRCUMSTANCES; TO PROVIDE FOR METHODOLOGY FOR DETERMINING APPROVAL OF 
DISCOUNT; TO PROVIDE FOR SEVERABILITY; TO PROVIDE FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE; AND FOR 
OTHER PURPOSES. (FIRST READING: NOVEMBER 1, 2021; SECOND READING AND 
CONSIDERATION TO ADOPT: NOVEMBER 15, 2021) 

 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
      

• RECOMMENDATION TO UPDATE THE EXISTING ORDINANCE WERE HEARD AT 
THE 10/18/2021 MEETING; COUNCIL VOTED TO PROCEED 
 

• LEGAL DEVELOPED ORDINANCE TO INCORPORATE THE CHANGES 
           
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
      
          
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
        
 
 

 
          REQUESTED BY:   Bob Bolz, City Manager______________ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #  12    
 

 

 



 

Page 1 of 3 
 

       
        

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF DAWSONVILLE, GEORGIA, TO PROVIDE FOR 
APPLICATION OF RATES TO CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS; TO PROVIDE FOR 
DISCOUNTS IN SPECIFICALLY APPROVED CIRCUMSTANCES; TO PROVIDE FOR 
METHODOLOGY FOR DETERMINING APPROVAL OF DISCOUNT; TO PROVIDE 
FOR SEVERABILITY; TO PROVIDE FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE; AND FOR OTHER 
PURPOSES. 

 
ORDINANCE NUMBER 04-2021 

 
 WHEREAS, the City of Dawsonville Georgia operates a water and sewer utility system 
for which customers pay monthly fees in exchange for services provided; 
 
  WHEREAS, the City of Dawsonville recognizes that the provision of water and sewer 
service is a vital function to promote the health, prosperity, safety and general welfare of the City 
of Dawsonville and its citizens; 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Dawsonville has been generally able to provide water and waste 
water service at lower rates than other providers of similar services within the geographical limits 
of Dawson County, Georgia;  

 
WHEREAS, the City of Dawsonville is nevertheless open to exploring avenues for making 

this vital service more affordable to persons whose financial situation make even the City of 
Dawsonville’s reasonable rates a fiscal challenge;  

 
WHEREAS, it is often senior citizens living on fixed incomes who struggle with paying 

for water and sewer service even at the reasonable rates charged by the City of Dawsonville; 
 
AND WHEREAS, part of providing more affordable rates and service to persons is 

making sure that the persons receiving the rates are entitled to them, while asking those who are 
able, to pay the normally applicable highly competitive rates.   
 
NOW THEREFORE, premises considered, the Council for the City of Dawsonville hereby 
ordains as follows: 
 
Section 1. 
 
 Chapter 14, Article II, Section 14.22 of the Code of Ordinances for the City of Dawsonville 
is hereby deleted in its entirety, and in its place is inserted a new Section 14.22 which shall read 
as follows: 
 
Sec. 14-22. Rate schedule. 
 

Subject Matter: Water/Sewer Rate Discount 
Date of First Reading: November 1, 2021 
Date of Second Reading: November 15, 2021 
Date of Adoption:  
 
 



 

Page 2 of 3 
 

(a) All water furnished by the City of Dawsonville to users or property situated within or 
without the corporate limits shall be metered and computed monthly and paid for at the 
rates set forth in section 2-110 of this Code.  

(b) All sewer service furnished by the City of Dawsonville to users or property situated within 
or without the corporate limits shall be computed monthly and paid at the rates set forth in 
section 2-110 of this Code.  

(c) Upon the approval of the utilities director for the City of Dawsonville, individuals and 
entities may purchase water in bulk from the city at a rate set out in section 2-110 of this 
Code. 

(d) Upon annual application to the city clerk, individuals may be eligible to receive an annual 
exclusion of 15% from the applicable rates as set forth in section 2-110 of this Code for 
water and sewer service furnished by the City of Dawsonville to property situated within 
or without the corporate limits if the applicant meets the following requirements: 

1. The applicant is age 65 or older at the time of application with the city clerk;  
2. The applicant’s household has an annual gross income equal to or less than 

$25,000.00;  
3. The applicant is the record owner or lessee of the property to be serviced; and 
4. The application is signed by the applicant and contains an affirmation by the 

applicant that the information contained in the application and all materials 
submitted with it are true and correct to the actual knowledge of the applicant. 

(e) Applications for annual exclusions under subsection (d) hereinabove shall be filed annually 
and, upon application, the applicant's qualification for the annual exclusion must be 
demonstrated by tendering to the city clerk the following, all of which shall be returned to 
the applicant after inspection and review by the clerk: 

1. A valid Georgia driver's license, birth certificate, passport or other government 
issued identification card demonstrating the applicant's date of birth, and 

2. A recorded deed or executed lease showing the applicant’s right to possession of 
the property to be serviced with water and sewer by the City of Dawsonville;  

3. Financial information in compliance with the following: 
a. A tax return or returns for the period of filing immediately preceding the 

submission of the application to the city clerk, which application must include 
all schedules and forms submitted as part of the tax return(s) and which must 
cover all household income for the property being serviced; OR, 

b. In the event the applicant’s household has total income of less than the amount 
required to file a tax return for the period in question, a statement from the 
Social Security Administration setting forth the total income received by the 
applicant and any other person residing therein, in the form of social security 
payments, which payments shall total less than the threshold for filing a tax 
return. 

(f) All applications for renewal of annual exclusions provided for in subsection (d) 
hereinabove shall be submitted from May 1 through and including June 30 of each 
successive calendar year and if not timely renewed, the exclusion shall lapse on June 30.  

 
Section 2.  Severability   

If any provision of this Ordinance or the application thereof to any person or 
circumstances is held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other provisions or applications 



 

Page 3 of 3 
 

of the Ordinance which may be given effect without the invalid provision or application, and 
to this end the provisions of this Ordinance are declared severable. 
Section 3.  Repealer and Restatement. 
 
 All ordinances and resolutions and parts thereof in conflict herewith are repealed. 
However, to the extent not in conflict, all remaining ordinances, resolutions, or parts thereof shall 
not be amended or repealed and shall remain in full force and effect, except as expressly stated in 
this ordinance.  
 
Section 4. Effective Date.  
 
 This ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after its adoption.  
 
 SO ADOPTED this ____ day of _______________, 2021.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
____________________________   Attested:  _____________________(seal) 
Mike Eason        Beverly Banister 
Mayor         City Clerk    
 
 
___________________________ 
Caleb Phillips 
Council Member 
 
 
__________________________ 
Mark French 
Council Member 
 
 
___________________________   
John Walden 
Council Member  
 
 
__________________________ 
William Illg 
Council Member 
 



                                           
 

 

     SUBJECT:   ORDINANCE AMENDMENT– STORMWATER MANAGEMENT 
 

     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  11/01/2021       
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #  NA      

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST:      FIRST READING 
  
AN ORDINANCE TO REGULATE POST DEVELOPMENT STORMWATER MANAGEMENT, TO 
PROVIDE FOR RESPONSIBILITY FOR MAINTENANCE OF FACILITIES, TO PROVIDE FOR 
PENALTIES, TO PROVIDE FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE, AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES (FIRST 
READING: NOVEMBER 1, 2021; SECOND READING AND CONSIDERATION TO ADOPT: NOVEMBER 
15, 2021) 
 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
      
           
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
      
          
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
        
 
 

 
          REQUESTED BY:   David Picklesimer, Planning Director______________ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #  13    
 

 

 



 

1 
 

 
 

 
AN ORDINANCE TO REGULATE POST DEVELOPMENT STORMWATER 
MANAGEMENT, TO PROVIDE FOR RESPONSIBILITY FOR MAINTENANCE 
OF FACILITIES, TO PROVIDE FOR PENALTIES, TO PROVIDE FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE, AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES  
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 05-2021 
 
WHEREAS the City of Dawsonville has previously adopted an ordinance to regulate 
stormwater in and around the City of Dawsonville;  
 
WHEREAS, the continued purpose of the City of Dawsonville stormwater ordinance is to 
ameliorate the impacts of post-development stormwater runoff, through the regulation of 
quality and quantity through both structural and non-structural measures;  
 
WHEREAS, structural measures involving stormwater runoff require, from time to time, 
maintenance to ensure they remain operational and effective for their intended purpose; 
 
AND WHEREAS, the responsibility for the periodic maintenance would be properly 
borne by the parties contributing stormwater to the infrastructure in need of maintenance. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, be it ORDAINED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 
Dawsonville, and it is hereby enacted by the authority of the same: 
 
 

Section 1. Definitions: the definition of the term “Person” is deleted in its entirety 
from Section 107-41, and in its place is inserted the following new definition of 
the term “Person.” 
 
Person means, except to the extent exempted from this chapter, any individual, 
partnership, firm, association, joint venture, public or private corporation, trust, 
estate, commission, board, public or private institution, utility, cooperative, city, 
county or other political subdivision of the state, any interstate body or any other 
legal entity, in the singular or in the plural as the case may be under this Code. 
 

Section 2. Maintenance responsibility: Section 107-191 of the Code of the City of 
Dawsonville is hereby deleted in its entirety, and in its place is inserted the 
following language which shall form a new Section 107-191: 
 
§ 107-191.  Maintenance Responsibility 
 
(a) Except as provided below, the owner of the property on which work has been 

done pursuant to this chapter for private stormwater management facilities, 
regional stormwater facilities, and stormwater BMPs, or any other person or 

Subject Matter: Stormwater Management 
Date of First Reading: November 1, 2021 
Date of Second Reading: November 15, 2021 
Date of Adoption:  
 



 

2 
 

agent in control of such property, shall maintain in good condition and 
promptly repair and restore all grade surfaces, walls, drains, dams and 
structures, vegetation, erosion and sedimentation controls, and other 
protective devices. Such repairs or restoration and maintenance shall be in 
accordance with the approved inspection and maintenance agreement and 
covenant. 

(b) If the owner of the stormwater management facility, regional stormwater 
facility, or stormwater BMP is an owner's association, unit owners' 
association, or homeowners' association, the owner shall provide the city a 
copy of the association's recorded declaration. The declaration must provide: 

1. That the facility or BMP is part of the common elements and shall be 
subject to the inspection and maintenance agreement and covenant; 

2. That membership in the association shall be mandatory and automatic 
for all unit owners or homeowners of the development and their 
successors; 

3. That the association shall have lien authority to ensure the collection 
of dues from all members; 

4. That the requirements of the inspection and maintenance agreement 
and covenant shall receive the highest priority for expenditures by the 
association except for any other expenditures which are required by 
law to have a higher priority; 

5. That a separate fund shall be maintained by the association for the 
routine maintenance, reconstruction and repair of the facilities and/or 
BMPs, separate from all other funds of the association; that it shall be 
kept in an account insured by the FDIC or by another entity acceptable 
to the city; 

6. That the routine maintenance, reconstruction, and repair fund shall 
contain at all times the dollar amount reasonably determined from time 
to time by city to be adequate to pay for the probable reconstruction 
and repair cost (but not routine maintenance cost) for a three-year 
period; 

7. That, to the extent permitted by law, the association shall not enter into 
voluntary dissolution unless the facilities and/or BMPs are transferred 
to a successor owner. 

(c) The city, in lieu of an inspection and maintenance agreement and covenant, 
may accept dedication of any existing or future stormwater management 
facility or BMP for maintenance, provided such facility or BMP meets all the 
requirements of this chapter, is in proper working order at the time of 
dedication, and includes adequate and perpetual access and sufficient area for 
inspection and regular maintenance. Such adequate and perpetual access shall 
be accomplished by granting of an easement to the city or through fee simple 
dedication to the city. 

(d) Stormwater management facilities and practices included in a stormwater 
management plan which are subject to an inspection and maintenance 
agreement and covenant must undergo ongoing inspections to document 
maintenance and repair needs and ensure compliance with the requirements of 



 

3 
 

the agreement and covenant, the stormwater management plan, and this 
chapter. 

(e) In the event that a stormwater detention facility is located in a residential 
development which development does not have an owner's association, unit 
owners' association, or homeowners' association which is responsible for 
periodic maintenance of the facility, then and in that event the person, persons 
or owners, whose properties contribute stormwater runoff to the detention 
facility, shall bear responsibility for the said periodic maintenance required to 
keep the detention facility working properly as determined by the City. 

 
 

Section 3. Failure to Maintain: Section 107-195 of the Code of the City of 
Dawsonville is hereby deleted in its entirety, and in its place the following 
language is inserted as a new Section 107-195. 

 
§ 107-195 Failure to Maintain 
 
If a responsible person fails or refuses to meet the requirements of this chapter 
and/or the inspection and maintenance agreement and covenant, the City, after 30 
days written notice (except, that in the event the violation constitutes an 
immediate danger to public health or public safety, 24 hours-notice shall be 
sufficient), may correct a violation of the design standards or maintenance 
requirements by performing the necessary work to place the facility or practice in 
proper working condition. The City may assess the parties responsible for 
maintenance of the facility penalties as described in § 107-240, or may assess for 
the cost of repair work which shall be a lien on the property, and may be collected 
in any manner allowed by law, including but not limited to the manner in which 
liens for taxes are collected. 

 
 

Section 4. All Ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are 
hereby repealed. 

 
Section 5. This ordinance shall become effective upon adoption, the public good 

demanding the same. 
 
 



 

4 
 

SO ORDAINED THIS ___ DAY OF ______________, 2021. 
 
 
_______________________________ ________________________________ 
Mike Eason, Mayor    Caleb Phillips, Council Member Post 1 
 
 
________________________________ ________________________________ 
William Illg, Council Member, Post 2 John Walden, Council Member Post 3 
 
 
________________________________ 
Mark French, Council Member Post 4 
 


	1 11.01.2021 AGENDA City Council Regular Meeting 
	7. Executive Summary For Agenda Items CONSENT AGENDA
	7a. 1 Executive Summary For Agenda Items MINUTES
	7a. 2 10.18.2021 MINUTES.draft
	7b. 1 Executive Summary For Agenda Items BYWAY
	7b. 2 Resolution R2021-07_Scenic Byway Resolution
	8. 1 Executive Summary For NAMING ROADS
	8. 2 Doc1
	9. 1 Maple Hill Dr Detention Pond Executive Summary Agenda
	9. 2 Maple Hill Drive detetntion Pond Executive Summary
	10. 1 Executive Summary For Agenda Items BUDGET PREP-AIRPORT
	10. 2 Task Order 3 - ARP Grant Application
	11. 1 Executive Summary For Agenda Items LEASES
	11. 2 2022 History Museum Lease
	3. Sub-Lease Term. This Sub-Lease shall commence on January 1, 2022, for the period of twelve months (“Lease Term”) terminating on December 31, 2022. The Sub-Lease Term is NOT subject to an automatic renewal. This Sub-Lease shall automatically termina...
	4. Rent. Lessee covenants and agrees to pay Lessor a rent amount as rent for the Museum Space during the Sub-Lease Term which will be as follows:
	A. Lessee will pay to Lessor Base Rent in the amount of $250.00 (two hundred and fifty and no/100 dollars) per month for the Museum Space.  Rent will be due and payable by the 5th day of every month, and if not actually received by the City by the 10t...

	11. 3 2022 Distillery Lease
	3. Sub-Lease Term. This Sub-Lease shall commence on January 1, 2022, for the period of twelve months (“Lease Term”) terminating on December 31, 2022. The Sub-Lease Term is NOT subject to an automatic renewal. This Sub-Lease shall automatically termina...
	4. Rent. Lessee covenants and agrees to pay Lessor a rent amount as rent for the Distillery Space during the Sub-Lease Term which will be as follows: Lessee will pay to Lessor rent in the amount of Three Thousand and no/100 Dollars ($3,000.00) per mon...

	12. 1 Executive Summary For SENIOR DISCOUNT ORD
	12. 2 04-2021_Water & Sewer Discount Rate
	13. 1 Executive Summary For STORMWATER ORD 
	13. 2 05-2021 Stormwater Ordinance Maintenance Revisions 10.19.2021 Draft



